IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Supreme Court THE FLORIDA BAR,) Case No. 71,918 In Re: PETER M. LOPEZ) (Petition for Reinstatement) SEP 1988 LEME COURT Deputy Diark On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Reinstatement Proceeding.

10-15

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

LOUIS THALER Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, FL 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

INTRODUCTION

THE FLORIDA BAR, Respondent in the lower proceedings, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar."

PETER M. LOPEZ, Petitioner in the lower proceedings, will be referred to as "Petitioner."

THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FLORIDA BAR will be referred to as the "Board of Governors."

The following symbols will be used in this brief:

- "T1" Transcript of the Reinstatement Hearing I held on May 16, 1988.
- "T2" Transcript of Reinstatement Hearing II held on May 31, 1988.
- "T3" Transcript of Reinstatement Hearing III held on July 11, 1988.

"RR" - Report of Referee dated July 26, 1988.

"PR" - Petition for Reinstatement dated February 19, 1988.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On November 25, 1981, Petitioner was suspended from the practice of law for one year for urging parties/witnesses to testify falsely under oath. <u>The Florida Bar v. Lopez</u>, 406 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1981).

On April 21, 1983, as a result of a 22-count felony indictment filed against Petitioner in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, Case No. 81-513 CR-WMH, Petitioner was found guilty of all 22 felony counts alleging that Petitioner did willfully and knowingly make and cause to be made false, fictitious statements as to material facts to the Immigration and Naturalization Service. On September 20, 1983, Petitioner was automatically suspended from The Florida Bar pursuant to Rule 11.07 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar (1983). <u>The Florida Bar v. Lopez</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 63,714 (Fla. 1983).

It is relevant for purposes of this appeal to direct the Court's attention to <u>Lopez v. Florida Board of Bar Examiners</u>, 231 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1969) for reasons which will become apparent in the brief. In <u>Lopez v. Florida Board of Bar Examiners</u>, the instant Petitioner experienced problems in initial admittance to The Florida Bar.

On February 19, 1988, by and through counsel B.K. Roberts and Hal P. Dekle, Petitioner filed a Petition for Reinstatement and a \$500.00 cost deposit pursuant to Rule 3-7.9 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (effective January 1, 1987).

- 1 -

Thereafter, The Florida Bar initiated an investigation into the allegations of the Petition for Reinstatement as well as Petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law.

On April 11, 1988, the Honorable Alfonso C. Sepe, Referee, set a Reinstatement Hearing for May 16, 1988. At the Reinstatement Hearing on May 16, 1988, Petitioner introduced the testimony of several witnesses favorable to reinstatement (T1). However, upon examination of Petitioner as to federal income tax returns filed personally and in the name of "Canary Investments, Inc," a Florida corporation in which Petitioner and his wife were sole directors and shareholders, certain problems were uncovered. For the fiscal years 1983 to 1987, Petitioner did not file tax returns for Canary Investments because of alleged problems in compiling necessary records (T1.160-161). Petitioner further alleged that there was an overall loss for those years (T1.76, 78). Staff Auditor Carlos Ruga testified that during that period of non-filing, Canary Investments bought and sold property and collected rents (T1.154). The Referee adjourned the May 16, 1988 hearing until Petitioner filed the tax returns or was able to rectify the tax return situation (T1.161-162).

At the second hearing on May 31, 1988, Petitioner introduced tax returns which indicated an <u>overall</u> loss for the years 1983 through 1987. However, in two of the five years, Canary Investments earned income which would have subjected the corporation to taxation if the returns were filed pursuant to federal and state law (T2.6).

- 2 -

Further, at the second hearing of May 31, 1988, Petitioner was examined as to the contents of the Petition for Reinstatement. Petitioner was found to have failed to list an arrest for extortion in 1980 (T2.21-32). Although the arrest pre-dated the suspensions involved herein, the relevance of this point will become apparent during the argument at Point II. At the conclusion of the second hearing, the Referee recommended that Petitioner be reinstated (T2.53-54).

Just after the May 31, 1988 hearing, through admitted fault on the part of The Florida Bar Staff Investigator and Bar Counsel, Staff Auditor Carlos Ruga came to review certain bank records belonging to "Peter M. Lopez & Associates," the business entity which Petitioner maintained during his suspension (T3.5). Although these records were furnished to Staff Investigator Gordon Sither a few days before the May 16, 1988 hearing, they were not reviewed or brought to the attention of Staff Auditor Carlos Ruga until after the conclusion of the second hearing on May 31, 1988 (T3.6).

On June 7, 1988, before the Referee issued his Report of Referee, The Florida Bar filed a Motion to Allow Further Evidence in Reinstatement Proceeding. The Referee set a third hearing for July 11, 1988 at which time the Motion was granted (T3.11).

At the third and final hearing on July 11, 1988, The Florida Bar presented the testimony of Staff Auditor Carlos Ruga, who had reviewed the bank records for Peter M. Lopez & Associates for an account maintained at Ocean Bank of Miami. The period examined was 1984 to 1988. This period was narrowed to January 1986 to January 1988, for purposes of the hearing. During the period January 1986 to January 1988, Petitioner issued and signed 444 checks on the Peter M. Lopez & Associates account at Ocean Bank. Of the 444 checks, 199 created overdrafts to the account and 48 of those overdrafts were checks returned for non-sufficient funds. The relevance of this problem will become apparent at Point I.

After the hearing of July 11, 1988, the Referee issued a Report of Referee dated July 26, 1988, recommending the reinstatement of Petitioner (RR.4).

Since the mailing date of the Report of Referee was not timely for the Board of Governors meeting on July 27-29, 1988, the Report of Refere was considered by the Executive Committee of The Florida Bar. The Executive Committee directed the filing of a Petition for Review and this appeal.

- 4 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

Petitioner has not acted with unimpeachable conduct, as is required by the case law governing reinstatement proceedings, in light of two factual situations brought to the attention of the Referee by The Florida Bar. The first factual situation involves Petitioner's failure to file federal and state corporate tax returns for the years 1983 through 1987 for Canary Investments, Inc., a Florida Corporation involved in various real estate transactions during that period, where Petitioner and his wife were sole officers and shareholders of the corporation. The second factual situation involves Petitioner's operation of the "Peter M. Lopez & Associates" bank account during the period of suspension. During the period January 1986 to January 1988, Petitioner issued and signed 444 checks on the Peter M. Lopez & Associates bank account. Of these 444 checks, 199 created overdrafts to the account and 48 were returned for insufficient funds.

II

In light of Petitioner's past problem in initial admittance to The Florida Bar, said problem arising out of the Florida Board of Bar Examiners' contention that Petitioner failed to reveal certain information on his bar application in 1969, Petitioner's omission of certain information on his Petition for Reinstatement should be considered to adversely reflect on the Petition for Reinstatement. Although Petitioner set forth an arrest in 1981 for an automobile inspection sticker violation,

- 5 -

he failed to mention an arrest in 1980 for extortion. Both the arrest for extortion in 1980 and the arrest for the automobile inspection sticker violation pre-dated any period of suspension. Petitioner's failure to list the extortion arrest, where he set forth an automobile inspection sticker violation arrest, points to the conclusion that the extortion arrest was not set forth to avoid a potentially troublesome area of inquiry.

III

The Referee failed to consider the nature of the underlying offenses giving rise to suspension and accordingly acted contrary to clear case law indicating that such a consideration should be undertaken in a reinstatement proceeding. The comparison of the prior misconduct to the conduct during the period of suspension is necessary and relevant to a proper determination of a Petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law.

IV

The Referee's exclusion of the opinion evidence offered by two of The Florida Bar's witnesses was clearly erroneous. Reinstatement hearings are public proceedings where members of The Florida Bar and members of the public are given the opportunity to express opinions as to a petitioner's fitness to resume the practice of law. Motivation and relevance of such opinions should be considered when assigning weight to the opinions and should not be a basis to totally exclude the opinions.

- 6 -

PETITIONER HAS NOT ACTED WITH UNIMPEACHABLE CHARACTER DURING THE PENDENCY OF SUSPENSION IN LIGHT OF:

A. THE CANARY INVESTMENT TAX RETURN MATTER. B. THE PETER M. LOPEZ & ASSOCIATES BANK ACCOUNT MATTER.

In order to successfully apply for reinstatement to The Florida Bar, a petitioner must demonstrate various requisite The Florida Bar In Re Timson, 301 So.2d 448 (Fla. elements. 1974); The Florida Bar In Re Whitlock, 511 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1987). Among the elements, and of main contention by The Florida Bar that said element has not been satisfactorily demonstrated, is the requirement that Petitioner prove by clear and convincing evidence that he has acted with "unimpeachable character" during the period of suspension. Timson, at 449. Two specific instances of less than unimpeachable character were demonstrated to the Referee and were erroneously not given appropriate consideration as the Referee found that "the unimpeachable character of Petitioner, Peter M. Lopez, has been clearly and satisfactorily demonstrated by evidence presented before this Referee" (RR.2).

The necessary conclusion must be that, in not giving these factors, which are hereafter described, the appropriate consideration, the Referee's findings and recommendations are clearly erroneous and without support in the record. This Court's review of referees' reports in attorney reinstatement proceedings is governed by the same rules and procedures as are reports submitted in other disciplinary proceedings. <u>The Florida Bar In Re Inglis</u>, 471 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1985). A referee's findings of

I.

- 7 -

fact must be accepted unless they are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. <u>Inglis</u>, at 40. Further, with regard to legal conclusions and recommendations of a referee, the scope of review is broader as it is ultimately the Court's responsibility to enter an appropriate judgment. Inglis, at 41.

A. THE CANARY INVESTMENT TAX RETURN MATTER.

On or about September 23, 1975, Petitioner incorporated Canary Investment, Inc., a Florida corporation in which Petitioner and his wife are sole officers and shareholders. Petitioner has admitted that it was his responsibility to file income tax returns for Canary Investments (T1.87, T2.13-14). During the period 1980 to 1986, Canary Investments was involved in several real estate transactions, including the construction and sale of four houses (T1.71, 154), and the sale of ten-unit rental apartments (T1.78). At the time of the first reinstatement hearing on May 16, 1988, the only corporate tax return produced to The Florida Bar was for the fiscal tax year 1982, which was filed on August 31, 1982 (T1.154). In fact, at the time of the first reinstatemet hearing on May 16, 1988, Petitioner had not filed corporate tax returns for Canary Investments for the fiscal years 1983, 1984, 1985, 1986, and 1987 (T2.5).

Throughout the proceedings, Petitioner offered various excuses for his failure to file tax returns. As Petitioner stated,

First of all, I didn't have any money, sir. Secondly, I had no records. Canary Investment had no records. They had been lost by Mr. Mastrapa.

(T2.17).

- 8 -

In addition to Petitioner's excuses that he "didn't have any money" (T2.17) and that he changed accountants and the records were lost or misplaced (T1.160-161, T2.15-17), Petitioner attempted to excuse his failure to file by indicating that extensions were requested (T1.87) and there were losses for those years anyway (T1.76,78). Based upon the evidence, the Referee continued the first reinstatement hearing on May 16, 1988, until the tax matter was resolved (T1.161-162).

At the second reinstatement hearing on May 31, 1988, the Petitioner produced copies of the filed corporate returns for fiscal tax years 1983 to 1987. The Florida Bar's position is that the excuse concerning having no money to pay taxes is no excuse for a member of The Florida Bar who has been twice suspended, convicted of 22 felony counts, and applying for reinstatement to The Florida Bar under a standard of proving unimpeachable character. By definition, "unimpeachable character" is character that cannot be questioned. This is not the case as there are substantial questions surrounding any person or entity's failure to file tax returns. Having no money to pay taxes is simply not a reason not to file tax returns.

The excuse about changing accountants and losing records also does not hold up to scrutiny. Petitioner admitted, as shareholder and officer of the corporation which he ran, that he was responsible for the filing of the tax returns (T1.87, T2.13-14). Blaming others for failures in accomplishing legal responsibilities must weigh heavily against a finding of unimpeachable character.

- 9 -

The excuse about filing extensions is also without merit. The extensions dealt with certain tax years and not others. There were no extensions for the State of Florida Intangible Tax returns. Further, the contention that corresponding with the Internal Revenue Service in 1983 and 1984 (T2.17) was a meritorious excuse for not filing for those tax years and tax years 1985, 1986 and 1987, is simply not valid. Further, the contention that the Internal Revenue Service or someone at the Internal Revenue Service was patiently waiting, also tests belief (T2.17).

The plain fact that tax returns for the corporation were not filed for the fiscal years 1983 through 1987 and continuing thereafter through the time of the second reinstatement hearing on May 31, 1988, is a factor which alone can defeat a clear and convincing finding of unimpeachable character. These tax returns were only filed to appease the Referee for purposes of these proceedings. There was an obvious ability to file the returns because the returns were filed in the 15 days between the first reinstatement hearing of May 16, 1988 and the second reinstatement of May 31, 1988. Such conduct is nothing but suspicious, questionable and a far cry from "unimpeachable." Petitioner has not defeated the presumption that, but for these reinstatement proceedings, the tax returns would not have been filed. This is because Petitioner has irrelevantly argued that there were losses for those years anyway (T1.76-78).

Accordingly, the Petitioner's contention that there were losses for those years anyway is no excuse. The federal and

- 10 -

state laws requiring the filing of tax returns do not excuse said filings because there are alleged losses. A lay person may not know this, but a lawyer, albeit suspended and particularly because he is suspended and applying for reinstatement, must know this. In fact, although there was an overall loss for all the years, which does not cause Petitioner to be presently liable for any taxes, the tax return for the fiscal year ending August 31, 1983, indicates a net income of \$5,751.00 (T2.6) and the tax return for the fiscal year ending August 31, 1984, indicates a net income of \$4,665.00 (T2.6). If Petitioner had filed timely, he would have been liable to pay both federal taxes (T2.7) as well as State of Florida Intangible Taxes. We are also not talking about simple taxable transactions. For example, the tax return for fiscal year 1985, which was not filed until May 31, 1988, the day of the second reinstatement hearing, indicates a loss in the amount of \$68,259.00 (T2.7).

Petitioner made his own rules and did not file, until his failure to file became an issue before the Referee. That issue was erroneously not considered by the Referee. The Referee concluded that since the Internal Revenue Service was not investigating or prosecuting Petitioner, he would not consider the merits of the tax matter (T1.152-153, T2.12). This was not and is not The Florida Bar's point, which is, that the very fact the tax returns were not filed when they should and could have been filed, reflects adversely on the Petition for Reinstatement (T2.10).

B. THE PETER M. LOPEZ & ASSOCIATES BANK ACCOUNT MATTER.

During the period of suspension, Petitioner maintained a bank account at Ocean Bank of Miami in the name of "Peter M. Lopez & Associates." Although not a point of main contention, Petitioner has admitted that there were not nor ever were any associates in Peter M. Lopez & Associates, although he did expect to have associates (T2.21). Further, through alleged inadvertence, a listing for Peter M. Lopez & Associates under the attorney section of the Southern Bell Yellow Pages, was maintained during the period of suspension (T1.99). Petitioner described Peter M. Lopez & Associates as a business name (T2.21).

A review of the bank account records of the Peter M. Lopez & Associates account for the period January 1986 to January 27, 1988 (T3.12), indicated that of the 444 checks issued on that account (T3.19), 199 of the checks created overdrafts to the account (T3.19) and 48 were returned for insufficient funds (T3.20). All of the 444 checks were signed by Petitioner (T3.41). The evidence further indicated that Petitioner knowingly wrote these checks with insufficient and even negative balances (T3.28, 33, 60).

Petitioner defended with the testimony of Jorge Perez, (T3.21), President of Ocean Bank, who alleged that Petitioner had a verbal overdraft agreement with the bank (T3.23). This same witness also testified that on occasions, the verbal overdraft agreement failed and checks were returned (T3.32). The following exchange between bar counsel ("Q") and Mr. Perez

- 12 -

("A") demonstrates that this verbal overdraft arrangement was sufficiently flawed to put Petitioner on notice that said arrangement was simply not working:

> Q: In 1986 and 1987, there is testimony that there were 444 checks that came into this account. One hundred and ninety-nine were overdrafts and forty-eight were insufficient funds.

A: Forty-eight were returned.

Q: Yes. Do you think that is a little unusual or more than a clerical mistake, as you represented in your affidavit?

A: Well, Mr. Lopez, when I got the arrangement -when he drew all these checks, it was not unusual. We paid most of the checks.

Q: But you returned forty-eight of them to the payees, didn't you?

A: Maybe at that time, the overdraft got too high and then we returned those checks.

Q: So there were some instances where the bank refused to pay beyond the overdraft?

A: Yes. The overdraft goes so high and then usually, we refuse after that.

Q: Would it surprise you that in September of 1987, every check presented to the account was returned insufficient funds.

A: I don't remember.

Q: In September of 1987, there were no deposits to that account, although there were -- I believe there were about ten items that were returned for insufficient funds.

(T3.31-33)

* * *

Q: Mr. Perez, were you out of the country or out of town the entire month of September, 1987? (emphasis added)

(T3.58)

A: I don't remember.

(T3.58)

Further, in one of the more eqregious instances, Petitioner wrote two rent checks to Mosta Corporation, Petitioner's landlord (T3.41), which were returned for insufficient funds. Thereafter, Petitioner was contacted by an attorney for the landlord (Joseph Colletti). The matter was "settled" by Petitioner issuing a check to the landlord's attorney for two months rent plus attorney's Petitioner's fees. "settlement" check, in the amount of \$6,070.80, was then returned for insufficient funds (T3.41-45).

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