IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. 71,948

In Re: PETER M. LOPEZ

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Reinstatement Proceeding.

ANSWER BRIEF OF PETER M. LOPEZ

B.K. ROBERTS, ESQ. ROBERT R. McDONALD, ESQ.

ROBERTS, BAGGETT, LaFACE & RICHARD
101 East College Avenue
Post Office Drawer 1838
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904)222-6891

and

HAL P. DEKLE, ESQ. 412 Madison Street Suite 808 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)223-2300

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

Lopez has demonstrated that he has unimpeachable character as required by the relevant case law. The failure to file tax returns for the tax years 1983 through 1987 for Canary Investments, Inc., a Florida corporation, were totally justified and adequately explained. Everything Lopez did with regard to this issue was legal. Similarly, the issues raised by The Florida Bar concerning the bank account of Peter M. Lopez & Associates were adequately explained and justified. In addition, Lopez presented a number of witnesses who testified to the honesty, trustworthiness and character of Lopez, presented evidence of a good reputation for professional ability, that Lopez holds no malice nor ill feeling towards any of those involved in his prior disciplinary proceedings, and demonstrated the repentance of Lopez and the desire of Lopez to conduct his practice of law in an exemplary fashion in the future. The Florida Bar could not produce any unbiased member of the public to testify as to the character of Lopez, the witnesses of The Florida Bar being the Assistant United States Attorney who prosecuted Lopez which resulted in the 3 year suspension of Lopez in 1983, and the special investigator in that same federal criminal trial. However, these two witnesses had no contact with Lopez since 1983 and thus their opinions as to the character of Lopez were not supported by a factual basis.

Π.

The failure of Lopez to include in paragraph 10 of his Petition for Reinstatement the fact that in 1980 he was arrested for extortion does not demonstrate any flaws in the character of Lopez nor does it demonstrate a pattern of Lopez intentionally withholding information to avoid any detrimental consequences. Lopez was not charged with extortion (or any other crime) relating to the 1980 arrest, there being no sufficient basis for the complaint against Lopez. The 1969 issue between Lopez and the Florida Board of

Bar Examiners was not a matter where Lopez intentionally fraudulently withheld information from The Florida Board of Bar Examiners, the decision of Lopez to not include in paragraph 10 of the Petition for Reinstatement the 1980 arrest of extortion does not demonstrate he was willfully withholding information from The Florida Bar, and both taken together do not show any pattern of wrongdoing. Lopez adequately explained the reasons for his decision not to include the 1980 extortion arrest in paragraph 10 of the Petition for Reinstatement, Lopez adequately included or referenced the arrest in other portions of the Petition for Reinstatement (including the reference to Lopez v. Orlando Martinez), and Lopez had no intent of hiding information from The Florida Bar, as so found by the Referee.

Ш.

The Referee allowed into evidence the proffered testimony of Florida Bar witnesses concerning the facts resulting in the 1983 Federal conviction and subsequent suspension from The Florida Bar. However, even if the Referee had not considered such information, such would have been harmless error as Lopez has adequately demonstrated that since his 1983 suspension to the present he has rehabilitated his character and has reached and maintained that high plateau of character which all members of the Bar must have. The Referee properly considered all relevant information in making his determination that Lopez has rehabilitated his character and satisfies the high level of character required.

IV.

There was no error in the Referee sustaining objections to the opinion testimony offered by Florida Bar witnesses Bondi and Johnson. Both witnesses Bondi and Johnson testified that they had no contact with Lopez since 1983, the date of conviction and sentencing in the Federal criminal case, and therefore these two witnesses had no knowledge as to the current state of the character of Lopez. If it was error for the

Referee to fail to admit the proffered testimony of the witnesses of The Florida Bar as to their opinion of the character of Lopez, such error was harmless error in the face of the witnesses who testified on behalf of Lopez, each and every one testifying as to the high state of character of Lopez, and also in view of the fact that The Florida Bar presented no witnesses, other than Bondi and Johnson, to refute the testimony of the high state of character of Lopez.

ARGUMENT

I.

PETITIONER HAS DEMONSTRATED HIS UNIMPEACHABLE CHARACTER.

The elements for reinstatement as an attorney in good standing to The Florida Bar have been clearly delineated in a number of cases, and stipulated to by counsel for The Florida Bar and for Lopez at the hearing below, those elements being:

- A. Strict compliance with the disciplinary orders suspending Lopez;
- B. Evidence of the unimpeachable character of Lopez;
- C. Evidence of a good reputation for the professional ability of Lopez;
- D. Evidence of lack of malice and ill feeling towards those involved in the disciplinary proceedings and the underlying criminal actions resulting in the automatic suspension of Lopez;
- E. Personal assurances by Lopez of a sense of repentance and a desire to conduct the practice of law in an exemplary fashion in the future; and
 - F. Restitution of all money.

See <u>The Florida Bar Re: Whitlock</u>, 511 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1987); <u>In Re: Timson</u>, 301 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1974). The Florida Bar stipulated that Lopez strictly complied with the disciplinary orders suspending Lopez and has made full payment of all money due (T1-13, 22-23). Lopez put on evidence of the other elements, and The Florida Bar contends Lopez did not prove his unimpeachable character.

As properly stated by The Florida Bar in their initial brief, the findings of the fact as determined by the Referee are presumed to be correct and must be accepted unless not supported by the record or unless the findings are clearly erroneous. Furthermore, as recognized by this Court in <u>In Re: Inglis</u>, 471 So. 2d 38, 40 (Fla. 1985), citing then Integration Rule 11.11(18),

"the burden shall be on the party seeking review [The Florida Bar] to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be

reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. A referee's findings of fact shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding." Thus, we must accept the referee's findings of fact unless they are not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.

(Citations omitted). The existing Rules Regulating The Florida Bar Rule 3-7.6(c)(5) contain similar language placing the burden on review on The Florida Bar to show error. See also The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So. 2d 289, 290 (Fla. 1987), wherein this Court stated "this Court's review of a referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial de novo in which the Court must be satisfied that the evidence is clear and convincing. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the Referee."

The Referee determined as a matter of fact that Lopez demonstrated rehabilitation and recommended reinstatement, which the Florida Bar opposes. Thus, The Florida Bar bears the burden to demonstrate that the findings of fact, as made by the Referee, were clearly erroneous and totally unsupported by the record. The Florida Bar seeks to establish this by stating that the Referee failed to give appropriate consideration to certain matters raised in the three hearings held before the Referee. However, the record clearly reflects that the Referee considered all relevant information submitted by Lopez and by The Florida Bar in finding as a factual matter that Lopez strictly complied with all disciplinary orders of The Supreme Court (including obtaining a high passing score on the ethics test), demonstrated his unimpeachable character, demonstrated by clear, convincing and uncontradicted evidence his good reputation and professional ability and his lack of malice and ill feeling towards those involved in bringing the disciplinary proceedings against him, demonstrated his repentance and contriteness as well as his deep desire to conduct his practice of law in an exemplary fashion in the future, and has demonstrated his compliance with all prerequisites for reinstatement (Referee's Report-2).

A. The Canary Investments, Inc. Tax Return Matter

The Florida Bar attempts to raise as an issue the late filing of tax returns for a Florida corporation known as Canary Investments, Inc. It is uncontroverted that the tax returns for Canary Investments, Inc. for the tax years 1983, 1984, 1985, 1986, and 1987 were not filed until 1988, and The Florida Bar is of the position that this in and of itself illustrates that Lopez is not fit to be an attorney. However, valid reasons were given by Lopez, others, and even The Florida Bar's accountant witnesses for the delay in filing. The testimony of the existing C.P.A. for Canary Investments, Inc., Carlos Salcinas, that of Lopez, that of The Florida Bar's own witness, Carlos Ruga, and the Petitioner's exhibits admitted into evidence by the Referee clearly shows that Lopez acted with due diligence in trying to solve the tax return problems of Canary Investments, Inc.

As can be gleaned from Petitioner's Exhibits, in November, 1983, Canary Investments, Inc. requested an extension of time to file the 1983 tax returns. Thereafter, in May, 1984, Canary Investments, Inc. forwarded a letter to the I.R.S. informing the I.R.S. that certain documents were lost, to which the I.R.S. responded by letter of June, 1984 acknowledging Canary Investments, Inc.'s request for information. Thereafter in December, 1985 the I.R.S. forwarded to Canary Investments, Inc. a notice setting up an appointment with Canary Investments, Inc. to review the tax situation, to which by letter dated January 9, 1986 Lopez responded requesting a postponement of the appointment due to his illness and confirming that Canary Investments, Inc. had taxable losses. Lopez testified that he went to the I.R.S. and was in touch with the tax officials of the U.S. government (T2-16-17). As was recognized at the reinstatement hearing, the I.R.S. has not brought any actions against Lopez, presumably being satisfied with the actions taken by Lopez with regard to the tax matters. In addition to the evidence that Lopez was in contact with the I.R.S., the reasons for the delay in filing the tax returns were clearly enumerated. Prior to employment of the current C.P.A., Salcinas, another

C.P.A., Rubin Mastrapa, was employed for preparation of the tax returns for Canary Investments, Inc. However, Mastrapa had lost the records needed to prepare the tax returns (T2-16), which fact was confirmed by Salcinas (T1-66), and even by The Florida Bar's witness, Carlos Ruga (T1-161). The Florida Bar's witness, Ruga, testified the tax returns could not be filed with the information then available (T1-158). Additionally, during this time period Lopez was ill with a very serious life threatening infection which did not allow Lopez to engage in a profession (T1-52, 53). Notwithstanding, Lopez continued his efforts to file the returns which fact was confirmed by Salcinas when Salcinas testified that Lopez was always pushing him to have the tax returns prepared (T1-72). Additionally, Salcinas refused to work on the returns as Lopez had fallen too far behind in payments due Salcinas for work completed and Salcinas was not willing to continue working without an adequate financial arrangement (T1-72). While the lack of funds to pay a C.P.A. may not normally be a valid reason for not filing the returns, when viewed with the other valid reasons for the delay (extensions with the I.R.S. and lost records), lack of funds to pay the C.P.A. is a valid reason given the testimony of Salcinas wherein he stated, in response to a question of The Florida Bar, that a layman could not prepare the tax returns for Canary Investments, Inc. (T1-83). Finally, Salcinas was aware of the extensions granted for the 1983 and 1984 returns and therefore he was able to continue and wait before preparing those returns (T1-73), and for the other years Salcinas himself filed for extensions (T1-74).

The Florida Bar alleges that the tax returns for Canary Investments, Inc. were only filed to appease the Referee for purposes of the reinstatement proceedings. This is an outright misstatement of the record to which Lopez objects. The record clearly illustrates the efforts of Lopez in trying to have the tax returns filed long before these reinstatement proceedings were instituted, much less long before the hearing in this matter. Petitioner's Exhibit 1 includes letters from Carlos Salcinas to Rubin Mastrapa

requesting the information which Mastrapa had lost, the letters being dated May, 1986. The assertion from The Florida Bar also flies directly in the face of the testimony of Salcinas, whereby he stated Lopez was always pressing Salcinas to file the returns (T1-72), and the testimony of Lopez on cross-examination by The Florida Bar: "Q: Did you file these tax returns for the sole purpose of this Petition for Reinstatement? A: No, sir. I have been trying to file since a couple of years ago." (T2-18). This Court should not consider The Florida Bar's inference based on its unsupported misstatement of the record.

The Florida Bar also implies that Lopez' defense as to the delay in the filing of the income tax returns is that there were no taxes owed. It is true that this point was raised, not only by Lopez through the testimony of Salcinas (T1-71-72, 76), but also by The Florida Bar's own witness, Carlos Ruga, who stated there was nothing illegal as to what was done, (T2-10), and that when Canary Investments, Inc. filed its taxes for 1985 which showed a huge loss, Canary Investments, Inc. would have recouped the taxes for 1983 and 1984, years when there were small taxable income (T2-9). This was not the reason for the delay, however, as the evidence clearly shows.

All of the above was submitted to the Referee for his consideration while sitting as the trier of fact in this matter. The Referee properly reviewed any conflicting evidence (little, if any, evidence presented by The Florida Bar conflicted with evidence presented by Lopez, and in fact the evidence of The Florida Bar corroborated the evidence of Lopez), and was in the position to judge the demeanor of the witnesses as they were so testifying. It is obvious from the transcript that the Referee gave appropriate consideration to the testimony and evidence presented concerning the tax matter and resolved as a matter of fact the actions of Lopez did not impeach his character. As stated by the Referee, there was nothing illegal about Lopez' actions, and "there is not even a hint of fraud or criminality, Federal of State, in the story of his taxes." (T2-47)

The Florida Bar has failed to show that the findings of fact, as so found by the Referee, are clearly erroneous or without support in the record.

B. The Peter M. Lopez & Associates Bank Account Matter.

The Florida Bar raises a minor point in its Initial Brief concerning a possible continued listing in the yellow pages under the listings for attorneys. Any such listing was without the knowledge of Lopez, and Lopez was never called as an attorney during the time of his suspension (T1-99). Lopez never took any affirmative action to solicit business or to list his name to get clients, and when suspended sent a letter to each of his clients informing them of his suspension as required (T1-99). The first time Lopez ever heard about the possibility that his name was listed in the yellow pages under the "attorneys" section was at the hearing of May 16, 1988 (T1-99). The testimony of Lopez clearly establishes that he did not solicit legal business nor hold himself out to be an attorney during his period of suspension nor knowingly have his name listed in the yellow pages.

The Florida Bar raises as a major contention the fact that during the period of his suspension, Lopez issued certain checks on the bank account of Peter M. Lopez & Associates with the Ocean Bank of Miami, some of which were returned for insufficient funds. The Florida Bar entered into evidence Florida Bar Exhibit 1, being copies of the bank statements for the account for Peter M. Lopez & Associates and a compilation of 48 checks initially returned by the Bank for insufficient funds. It must be stressed that all checks in question were immediately paid by either the Bank or by Lopez when they were initially returned for insufficient funds, as after Lopez found out that a check was returned he would call the party and pay them cash or have the bank cover the check (T3-38, 47).

Lopez had a long-term relationship with the president of the Ocean Bank of Miami, Jorge Perez, which spanned over 15 years and still continues (T3-22, 38). In fact, Mr.

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